
 
Published and despatched by democracy@southkesteven.gov.uk on Friday, 27 January 2023.  

 01476 406080 
Karen Bradford, Chief Executive 

www.southkesteven.gov.uk 

Joint Meeting of the 
Environment Overview and 
Scrutiny Committee and 
Rural and Communities 
Overview and Scrutiny 
Committee 

 

     
 

 

Monday, 6 February 2023 at 2.00 pm 
Council Chamber – South Kesteven House, St. Peter’s Hill, 

Grantham. NG31 6PZ 
 

 

Committee 
Members: 

 

Councillor Nikki Manterfield, Councillor Gloria Johnson, Councillor John Cottier, 
Councillor Ben Green, Councillor Hannah Westropp, Councillor Murray Turner 
Councillor Sarah Trotter, Councillor Barry Dobson, Councillor Richard Cleaver, 
Councillor Richard Dixon-Warren, Councillor Penny Milnes, Councillor Hilary 
Westropp, Councillor Ray Wootten, Vacancy (Alliance SK) 
 

Agenda 
 

 This meeting can be watched as a live stream, or at a 
later date, via the SKDC Public-I Channel 

 
 

 

1.   Apologies for absence 
 

 

2.   Disclosure of interests 
 

Members are asked to disclose any interests in matters for consideration at the 
meeting.  
 

 

3.   Minutes from the Joint Meeting of the Environment Overview and 
Scrutiny Committee and Rural and Communities Overview and 
Scrutiny Committee held on 15 November 2022 
 

(Pages 3 - 10) 

4.   Conclusion of the Grounds Maintenance Options Appraisal 
 

To provide information to Members on the results of the grounds 
maintenance options appraisal undertaken, and in consideration, 
provide a recommendation to Cabinet on the preferred way forward. 
 

(Pages 11 - 35) 

5.   Any other business which the Chairman, by reason of special 
circumstances, decides is urgent 
 

 

6.   Close of meeting 
 

 

mailto:democracy@southkesteven.gov.uk
http://www.southkesteven.gov.uk/
http://moderngov.southkesteven.gov.uk/mgMemberIndex.aspx?bcr=1
https://twitter.com/intent/tweet?text=Meeting%20agenda%20@southkesteven
http://www.linkedin.com/shareArticle?mini=true&url=http://moderngov.southkesteven.gov.uk/mgWhatsNew.aspx?bcr=1
http://facebook.com/sharer/sharer.php?u=http://moderngov.southkesteven.gov.uk/mgWhatsNew.aspx?bcr=1
https://southkesteven.public-i.tv/core/portal/home


This page is intentionally left blank



1 
 

Minutes of the Joint Meeting 
of the Environment 
Overview and Scrutiny 
Committee and Rural and 
Communities Overview and 
Scrutiny Committee 
 

Extraordinary Meeting  
 

Tuesday, 15 November 2022, 2.00 pm 

 

 

Committee Members present 
 

 

Councillor Sarah Trotter  
Councillor Gloria Johnson  
 

Councillor Richard Cleaver 
Councillor Richard Dixon-Warren 
Councillor Barry Dobson 
Councillor Gloria Johnson 
Councillor Nikki Manterfield 
Councillor Sarah Trotter 
Councillor Hilary Westropp 
Councillor Hannah Westropp 
Councillor Ashley Baxter 
Councillor Ray Wootten 
Councillor Penny Milnes 
Councillor Phil Dilks 
Councillor Kaffy Rice-Oxley 
 

 

Cabinet Members present 
 

Councillor Kelham Cooke (Leader of the Council) 
Councillor Adam Stokes (Deputy Leader of the Council) 
Councillor Rosemary Trollope-Bellew (Cabinet Member for Culture and Visitor 
Economy) 
Councillor Mark Whittington (Cabinet Member for Waste Services and Climate 
Change) 
 

Other Members present 
 

Councillor Virginia Moran 
 

Officers 
 

Karen Bradford (Chief Executive) 
Alan Robinson (Deputy Chief Executive) 
Nicola McCoy-Brown (Director of Growth and Culture) 
Graham Watts (Assistant Director of Governance) 
Craig Spence (Acting Director for Housing) 
Richard Wyles (Chief Finance Officer) 
Karen Whitfield (Assistant Director of Culture and Leisure) 

 

3

Agenda Item 3



2 
 

Patrick Astill (Communications Officer) 
Michael Chester (Team Leader – Leisure, Parks and Open Spaces) 
Amy Pryde (Democratic Services Officer) 
 

 
4. Apologies for absence 

 
An apology for absence was received from Councillor Ben Green. 

 
Councillor Kaffy Rice-Oxley acted as a substitute for Councillor Ben Green.  

 
Councillor Ashley Baxter and Councillor Phil Dilks filled the two Alliance SK 
vacancies.  

 
5. Disclosure of interests 

 
There were none.  

 
6. Grounds Maintenance - Future Arrangements 

 
The report on future arrangements for Grounds Maintenance was to be presented 
by the Leader of the Council. 

 
A Member queried whether the directors of Environment SK Ltd were to be present 
in the meeting or allowed to participate in the debate.  

 
The Assistant Director of Governance informed the Committee that there was no 
decision to be made, only a recommendation. There was no requirement for 
directors of Environment SK Ltd to declare an interest at that time. 

 
The Member asked if it would be appropriate to discuss recommendation 4 of the 
report with the presence of the directors of Environment SK Ltd at the meeting. 

 
The Deputy Chief Executive clarified that the figures in exempt appendix 2 could 

not be discussed as they were commercially sensitive. 
 

The Leader continued by thanking the Officers involved in the report for their 
integrity, honesty, and hard work.  The Leader stated that as the procurement 
process previously undertaken did not deliver any interest, a decision could not be 
made at this time on the recommendation for the Grounds Maintenance Service 
without fully exploring the opportunity around a commercial operator.  In recognition 
of this, the Leader suggested the following motion: 

 
That the Committee: 

 
Recommended the Cabinet Member for Waste requested that Officers commence a 
new procurement process in order to seek proposals from providers of ground 

4



3 
 

maintenance services on the new grounds maintenance specification that has been 
developed, to ensure that the Council has fully explored all available options.  

 
The Leader advised that the recommendations in the report were deferred to a 
future meeting to provide further clarity. 

 
A Member of the Committee proposed the suggested motion. This was seconded. 

 
A Member requested clarification on whether it was appropriate that the report was 
presented by the Leader of the Council and not the Cabinet Member for Waste 
Services.  A written copy of the amended motion was requested. 

 
The Assistant Director of Governance informed the Committee that the Chairman 
had discretion to give any Members an opportunity to speak or present within the 
meeting. It was clarified that it was the Committee’s prerogative to propose and 
second a motion. 

 
The Chairman informed the Members that those on the Joint Committee would take 
priority over non-committee Members and any questions would then be taken. 

 
A Member supported the request for the amended motion to be supplied to all 
Committee members in writing before progressing the meeting. 

 
It was proposed, seconded, and AGREED that the meeting was adjourned for 10 
minutes, until printed copies were supplied to Committee members. 

 
Clarification was sought around deferring all 4 recommendations as set out in the 
report, it was suggested that the new specification be approved and debated first.  

 
The Assistant Director for Governance confirmed that the original recommendations 
set out in the report had not been proposed or seconded. The motion had been 
proposed and seconded and was therefore acceptable to debate.  

 
One Member queried as to whether the motion put forward assumed that the new 
grounds maintenance specification had been developed but not agreed and 
whether the Committee were accepting or reconsidering these as set out on 
recommendation 1 on the report.   

 
The proposer of the motion clarified that the process of procurement be completed 
again.  

 
The Chief Executive clarified that Environment SK Ltd had been delivering the 
original specification for a period of time. If the motion put forward supported the 
amendment to the specification, pricings could be sought on the original 
specification and the amended specification.  

 
It was confirmed that the motion referred to the new grounds maintenance 
specification which was included within appendix 2 of the report.  

5



4 
 

 
One Member raised concerns on whether the Joint Scrutiny Committee had 
scrutinized the revised specification and how the Council could go out to 
procurement on the revised specification. 

 
Members discussed whether procurement would be undertaken for the current 
specification and the new specification as the motion had not included proposals 
from providers on the old ground’s maintenance services.  

 
One Member questioned why certain content within the exempt appendices could 
not be discussed, for example, the number of cuts per year. The differences 
between the new specification and the old specification were queried.  

 
The Leader of the Council confirmed that the old specification was circa to 20-25 
years old. The new specification detailed every piece of land owned by the 
Council. It was noted that the Council could go to the market and become certain 
as to whether external companies were interested in the contract or not and to test 
the market to receive the best service for residents.  

 
One Member raised concern on whether it was appropriate for a Non-Committee 
Member to be heard before a Committee Member. It was confirmed that this was 
the Chairman’s discretion.  

 
One Member noted that the new specification had been in operation for 3-4 
months by Environment SK Ltd. Further work had been undertaken in 
collaboration with Environment SK Ltd to identify a range of options to amend the 
services due to budgeting concerns.  

 
The Chief Executive clarified that the Council had an original specification. A 
significant piece of work was undertaken to develop a new specification which was 
comprehensive. The exempt appendix 2 outlined two levels of frequencies 
(original frequency and revised frequency) on the new specification, which was 
produced in July 2022.  

 
Clarification was sought on whether the market had informed the Council that they 
were not interested in the new specification.  

 
It was confirmed that procurement took place on the new specification with the 
new mapping system for contractors to access. At week four of that contract, no 
interest had been received other than clarity over whether the Council were 
seriously considering a commercial contract or were just testing the market.  

 
One Member noted that the new specification saved money by reducing the level 
of service provided by reducing the number of cuts. The issue was discussed 
regarding whether the Council should dissolve Environment SK Ltd and bring it ‘in-
house’ or ask commercial providers to complete the works.  

 

6



5 
 

It was suggested whether the Council could liaise with Environment SK Ltd and 
reduce the number of cuts a year and request the cost for the year. 

 
One Member suggested that the appropriateness of the specification and the 
revised specification should be debated before deciding how it should be 
delivered.   

 
The Chief Executive highlighted that the original specification (detailed in exempt 
appendix 2) was what the Council had been operating for many years. The 
revised frequency was based on a reduced level of service which had also been 
included in the original procurement exercise. The external market was asked to 
bid on the original frequency, a revised frequency and to suggest any other 
proposals where the cost could be reduced.   

 
It was confirmed that the proposed motion was for the Council to go back out to 
the market with the specification and reduced frequency specification.  

 
Several points were raised around the key considerations set out in the report: 

 

• The report stated that insourcing the grounds maintenance service would 
provide the Council with full control on how the service was operated. One 
Member stated that this consideration inferred that the Council did not have 
control at present. It was queried as to how this control was lost by a wholly 
owned company by the Council? 

• That the Environment SK Ltd as a wholly owned company could make a profit 
on grass cuts, however, a profit would not be received by in-house services. 

• That the Council lent £500,000 to Environment SK Ltd when it was founded. It 
was queried whether the loan would be paid back or written off.  
 

The Cabinet Member for Waste Services and Climate Change confirmed that a 
benefit of insourcing the service would be around operational control and being 
flexible around the number of cuts necessary for the weather.  

 
The Leader of the Council clarified that in terms of the operational control of 
Environment SK Ltd, the Council set a contract for the company to deliver against 
the specification. Officers then assess the work undertaken. 

 
The Chief Finance Officer confirmed that the loan was a commercial arrangement 
between the Council and Environment SK Ltd, it was primarily used to procure the 
assets that the company required to operate and manage the contract. If the 
company was dissolved in the future, the value of the assets would be returned to 
the Council. In the intervening period, Environment SK Ltd had been servicing the 
loan through interest payments and contributions towards the principal.  

 
One Member raised the following queries: 

 

7



6 
 

• Whether the current Environment SK Ltd depot had capacity to bring the 
service ‘in-house, or whether this would require operating from the new depot. 
The cost and timescale of a new depot was also queried. 

• Concern was raised on whether Environment SK Ltd staff would be consulted 
and transferred to a new company if it were outsourced. 

• Whether options were being explored to introduce charging for HRA assisted 
gardens which may have significant impact on the budgeting and procurement 
process.  
 

Clarification was sought that if the Council were to go back out to tender, where 
the process would be completed to the tender deadline to prevent taking away any 
opportunities.   

 
The Leader of the Council confirmed that the existing depot had capacity to bring 
the service ‘in-house’ if the decision was made to do so. The depot project was 
being progressed. It was clarified that staff would be consulted and transferred to 
a new company if it were outsourced. 

 
It was assured that the repeated tender would run for the full process. The 
previous tender process was closed early with the advice of the Council’s Senior 
Procurement Officer. 

 
A query was raised on why it would be necessary for the procurement process to 
be repeated following the previous recommendation to Cabinet. Concern was 
raised regarding whether the market would be any more interested than the first 
round of procurement for less cuts per year. 

 
Further clarification was sought on what would occur to the loan given to 
Environment SK Ltd if the service was outsourced or insourced.  

 
Concern was raised that Environment SK Ltd had a moratorium on paying back 
the loan. It was queried as to how much of the £570,000 commercial loan had 
been paid back and how much the equipment utilised by Environment SK Ltd was 
worth.  

 
The Leader of the Council reminded the Committee not to make any pre-
determining comments to protect colleagues of Environment SK Ltd. It was 
confirmed that the market was challenging regarding grounds maintenance and 
the recommendation was to test the market to review options in order to make 
savings.  

 
The Committee raised the queries in relation to maintenance cuts: 

 

• When was it agreed to reduce hedge cutting from 2 cuts a year to 1 cut a 
year? 

• When was it agreed to cut the shrub bed maintenance from 4 cuts a year to 2 
cuts a year? 

8



7 
 

• When was it agreed to change the hard surface sweeping from weekly to 
monthly?  
 

The Chief Executive referred the Committee to exempt appendix two. It was 
assured that the original specification and frequency was what the Council were 
working towards already. Environment SK Ltd were currently doing 1 hedge cut, 
however, it was considered and appropriate for 2 hedge cuts meaning there had 
been an improvement to the frequency.  

 
It was confirmed that during procurement, prices would be sought from the original 
and revised frequency specification and contractors would be encouraged to put 
forward any other options that would reduce the cost of the contract. The price 
received would be brought back to Committee alongside the price of the 
insourcing model. A recommendation would then be taken to Cabinet on options 
predicated on cost and benefit of the options.  

 
One Member queried as to where any information had been provided justifying the 
‘pros and cons’ of the reduction proposed in the number of cuts. 

 
It was further questioned as to whether a timescale was in place and how long the 
review of options would take and when it would return to the Committee.  

 
The Leader of the Council noted that the Council would go back out to 
procurement during w/c 28 November 2022. This would be the start of a 6-week 
period and the options would return to the Committee in January 2023.  

 
The status of the loan was queried again and how much of the loan had been paid 
back and whether Environment SK Ltd were still paying off the loan as agreed or 
with a moratorium.  

 
One Member requested the current estimated value of the assets if Environment 
SK Ltd was devolved.  

 
The Chief Executive informed the Committee that detail of the loan and repayment 
would need to be discussed in private session due to valuations of the retained 
equipment. 

 
It was confirmed that Environment SK Ltd’s contract included an amount paid from 
Lincolnshire County Council for cutting the verges, which had now been mapped. 
Lincolnshire County Council paid for three cuts a year, but a flailing machine was 
not used as the verges were being cut at the same level as open spaces.  

 
In addition, Lincolnshire County Council operated a scheme with Parish Council’s 
which included two extra cuts. 

 
It was proposed, seconded and AGREED that the Committee: 

 

9



8 
 

a) Recommended the Cabinet Member for Waste requested that Officers 
commence a new procurement process in order to seek proposals from 
providers of ground maintenance services on the new grounds 
maintenance specification that has been developed, to ensure that the 
Council has fully explored all available options and to follow 
specifications that have been recommended. 
 

(Councillor Ashley Baxter and Councillor Phil Dilks voted against the 
recommendation) 

 
7. Close of meeting 

 
The Chairman closed the meeting at 15:42. 

 
 

10



 
 

 

 
 

       

Joint Meeting – Environment 
and Rural and Communities 
Overview and Scrutiny 
Committees 
 
 

6 February 2023 
 
Report of Councillor Mark Whittington 
                Cabinet Portfolio Holder for  
                Waste and Climate Change 

    
 

Conclusion of the Grounds Maintenance Options 

Appraisal 
 

Report Author 

Karen Whitfield, Assistant Director of Culture and Leisure 

  Karen.whitfield@southkesteven.gov.uk 

 

Purpose of Report 

 

To provide information to Members on the results of the grounds maintenance options 

appraisal undertaken, and in consideration of the results provide a recommendation to 

Cabinet on the preferred way forward. 

 

Recommendations 

The Joint Environment Overview and Scrutiny Committee and Rural and 
Communities Overview and Scrutiny Committee is asked to: 

1. Recommend to Cabinet the preferred service delivery option in respect of 
the Council’s grounds maintenance service with effect from the financial 
year 2023/24.  

2. Review and make any specific comments to Cabinet on the proposed 
amendments to the grounds maintenance specification.  

 

 

 

 

11

Agenda Item 4

http://moderngov.southkesteven.gov.uk/mgMemberIndex.aspx?bcr=1
https://twitter.com/intent/tweet?text=Meeting%20agenda%20@southkesteven
http://www.linkedin.com/shareArticle?mini=true&url=http://moderngov.southkesteven.gov.uk/mgWhatsNew.aspx?bcr=1
http://facebook.com/sharer/sharer.php?u=http://moderngov.southkesteven.gov.uk/mgWhatsNew.aspx?bcr=1


 
 

Decision Information 

Does the report contain any 
exempt or confidential 
information not for publication? 

Appendices One, Three and Four to this report are 
not for publication by virtue of paragraph 3 of Part 1 
of Schedule 12A of the Local Government Act 
1972. 

 
 

What are the relevant corporate 
priorities?  

Housing that meets the needs of all residents 

Healthy and strong communities 

Clean and sustainable environment 

High performing Council 

Which wards are impacted? All 

 

1.  Implications 
 

Taking into consideration implications relating to finance and procurement, legal and 

governance, risk and mitigation, health and safety, diversity and inclusion, safeguarding, 

staffing, community safety, mental health and wellbeing and the impact on the Council’s 

declaration of a climate change emergency, the following implications have been identified: 

 

Finance and Procurement  

 

1.1 The Council has a significant responsibility in relation to the grounds maintenance 

of General Fund and Housing Revenue Account (HRA) land, in the current financial 

year this is projected to cost over £1m.  A new grounds maintenance specification 

has been developed based on the current level of service which, if adopted, would 

add a budget pressure of circa £384k for financial year 2023/2024.  This represents 

an increase of 37%. 

 

1.2 The Council is already facing significant financial challenges to deliver a balanced 

budget position for 2023/2024 and beyond, currently there are significant budget 

pressures in relation to utilities, the pay award, and fuel.  A further financial pressure 

of £384k is not affordable without equivalent budgetary savings being identified in 

other areas. 

 

1.3 Changes have been identified to the grounds maintenance specification which, if 

approved, will provide a more affordable position for the Council whilst ensuring the 

continuation of high levels of service delivery.   

 

1.4 Financial modelling has identified that, in addition to the savings resulting from the 

proposed changes to the grounds maintenance specification, further annual savings 

of circa £352k can be achieved by insourcing the grounds maintenance service and 

integrating this with Street Scene and the Big Clean Team.  If this is the preferred 

option any savings achieved will contribute towards the Council’s aim of achieving 

12



 
 

a medium term balanced financial position, the level of savings being dependent on 

the timeline for integration. 

 

1.5 Street Scene currently has an annual budget of £1.4million.  If full integration of the 

two services is undertaken further opportunities can be explored with the aim of 

identifying additional cost savings and income from financial year 2024/2025 

onwards. 

 

1.6 The Council provided a loan to EnvironmentSK Ltd when it was established in 2019 

in the sum of £571k to purchase equipment and vehicles.  Should a decision be 

made to award a contract or to insource the service, details of the amount of 

principal outstanding and the residual value of the assets are included at Exempt 

Appendix Four to this report. 

  

Completed by: Richard Wyles, Chief Finance Officer and s151 Officer. 

 

Legal and Governance 

 

1.7 It is appropriate for the Council to review how best to deliver its grounds 

maintenance service. A thorough options appraisal has been carried out which 

provides Members with a sound basis to decide on the future delivery of the service. 

 

Completed by Graham Watts, Assistant Director of Governance and Deputy 

Monitoring Officer 

 

Risk and Mitigation 

 

1.8 Once a final decision has been made on how the Council’s grounds maintenance 

service will be delivered in the future a project plan will be developed to support any 

transitional arrangements.  This will include a risk register to identify any risks and 

mitigating actions which will be monitored and kept under review by the project 

team. 

 

Completed by: Tracey Elliot, Governance and Risk Officer 

 

Health and Safety 

 

1.9 The Council has a duty under the Health and Safety at Work Act 1974 to protect the 

health, safety and welfare of its employees and other people who may be affected 

by its work activities. 

 

1.10 Providing a grounds maintenance service involves the use of heavy and light 

machinery and harmful chemicals.  Should the grounds maintenance service be 

insourced corporate support will be provided to ensure there are suitable and 

sufficient policies and procedures in place to ensure safe and robust working 

practices are adhered to, and activities have been sufficiently risk assessed. 

13



 
 

 

1.11 A training plan will be required to identify any necessary training resulting from an 

integrated Street Scene and grounds maintenance service.  Employees will require 

full training before operating any new machinery or taking on additional duties, and 

records will need to be maintained in this regard. 

 

Completed by Phil Swinton, Emergency Planning and Health and Safety 

Lead 

 

Diversity and Inclusion 

 

1.12 Insourcing this operation will impact on the people currently employed through 

EnvironmentSK Ltd. Whilst some of the impact experienced will be positive, we 

must consider any negative impact resulting from these changes. 

 

1.13 Human resources implications will be considered by the HR professionals under 

TUPE regulations, but further consideration is required in relation to equality and 

inclusivity. It is recommended that such equality considerations be included into any 

consultation process undertaken as part of the proposed changes to how this 

service will be staffed and delivered should the proposed changes be adopted.  

 

1.14 All reasonable adjustments required should be considered at the earliest stage to 

ensure they are integral to the whole process. These adjustments could relate to 

the consultation process, making it equitable for all, through to any changes in roles 

and responsibilities resulting from the proposed integration of grounds maintenance 

into Street Scene. 

 

Completed by: Carol Drury, Community Engagement Manager 

 

Human Resources 

 

1.15 Should the grounds maintenance service be insourced, the Council and 

EnvironmentSK Ltd will have individual roles and responsibilities to fulfil under 

TUPE Regulations.  Should due process not be followed there is the potential for 

significant financial penalties on either side.  Therefore, it will be necessary for 

EnvironmentSK Ltd to secure independent specialist HR support to ensure that all 

necessary steps and procedures are followed. 

 

1.16 Should the decision be made to integrate an insourced grounds maintenance 

service with Street Scene and the Big Clean Team, a consultation plan will be 

developed, and the Council’s HR Team will support colleagues to ensure a thorough 

consultation is undertaken with the affected employees. 

 

Completed by Fran Beckitt, Human Resources Manager 

 

 

14



 
 

Climate Change 

 

1.17 The insourcing of the Council’s grounds maintenance service, including wider 

integration with Street Scene and the Big Clean Team presents an opportunity to 

fully integrate the service and the tasks undertaken.  This has the potential to reduce 

use of vehicles and associated fuel and rationalise necessary mileage, which as 

well as resulting in financial efficiencies will reduce the Council’s carbon footprint. 

 

Completed by Serena Brown, Sustainability and Climate Change Officer. 

 

Consultation 

 

1.18 A comprehensive consultation will be undertaken with all tenants within areas 

maintained by the Housing Revenue Account, this will be completed alongside 

planned consultation relating to the potential introduction of service charges for 

services provided. 

 

 Completed by Craig Spence, Acting Director of Housing 

 

2. Background to the Report 
 

2.1 The provision of a high-quality grounds maintenance service satisfies many of the 

Council’s key priorities as identified within its Corporate Plan 2020-23. These 

include being a ‘High Performing Council’ with a focus on managing finances and 

assets effectively, and ‘Providing a Clean and Sustainable Environment’, ensuring 

that the district is a clean and pleasant place to live and visit.   

2.2 To ensure a high level of service can be delivered, a review of the grounds 

maintenance service has been undertaken with a view to establishing whether the 

current method of delivery is the optimal model, or whether there are alternative 

options which better align with the Council’s vision and priorities. 

2.3 The district of South Kesteven covers 365 square miles, the Council being 

responsible for the grounds maintenance of all Council-owned land including 

General Fund (GF) and Housing Revenue Account (HRA) land.  In addition, closed 

churchyards and sports pitches are maintained, and the grass verges in Grantham 

are cut on behalf of Lincolnshire County Council. 

 

2.4 The total amount of land currently maintained across the district equates to 1.5 

million square metres.  For financial year 2022/2023 the projected total contract fee 

to EnvironmentSK Ltd is £1.016M, this being split £428,000 across HRA land and 

£588,000 across GF. 

 

2.5 Since 1 March 2019, the Council’s grounds maintenance service has been provided 

by EnvironmentSK Ltd, a wholly-owned Council company.  Prior to this, the Council 

had a contract with Glendale Ltd, which commenced in 2014 and ended in 2019. 

 

15



 
 

2.6 The Council is receiving a very good standard of service from EnvironmentSK Ltd, 

however, there has been a history of the Council under-funding EnvironmentSK Ltd 

for the work undertaken.  This has resulted from out of date and inaccurate core 

data and has presented operational and financial difficulties for the company. 

 

2.7 A fundamental review of the Council’s land and grounds maintenance 

responsibilities has been undertaken which has resulted in a new grounds 

maintenance specification being developed which accurately reflects the current 

level of service being provided by EnvironmentSK Ltd.  This contains accurate 

information on the sites to be maintained, and detailed information on the Council’s 

requirements at each location.   

 

2.8 To accompany the new specification a digital mapping system has been developed 

which contains detailed information on each location including measurements, 

details of legal ownership, and the level and frequency of grounds maintenance 

tasks to be undertaken.  

 

2.9 Three options for the future provision of grounds maintenance services have been 

identified, these being: 

 

- To retain the services of EnvironmentSK Ltd 

 

- To secure an external provider under a contract arrangement 

 

- To insource the grounds maintenance service, including integration with wider 

Council services. 

 

2.10 At a joint meeting of the Environment Overview and Scrutiny Committee and Rural 

and Communities Overview and Scrutiny Committee held on 27 June 2022, 

Members considered and approved the three options, and recommended to 

Cabinet a procurement exercise be undertaken to assist an assessment of the 

future delivery options. 

 

2.11 At a subsequent meeting of Cabinet on 12 July 2022, Cabinet approved the 

following: 

  

- The commencement of a procurement process in order to seek proposals from 

providers of grounds maintenance services, to assess the future delivery 

options. 

 

- The commencement of a full appraisal of alternative delivery models of the 

grounds maintenance service, in order that a final option could be presented to 

Cabinet that delivers the right quality for the best value to the Council and its 

housing tenants. 

 

 

16



 
 

EnvironmentSK Ltd 

2.12 In order to assess affordability and enable a baseline cost for the Council’s grounds 

maintenance service to be identified, EnvironmentSK Ltd was requested to provide 

an updated fee for delivering the service for financial year 2023/2024 using the 

pricing schedule which had been prepared to accompany the new grounds 

maintenance specification.  A breakdown of the costings is provided in Exempt 

Appendix One, ESK Pricing Schedule. 

2.13 The cost identified represents an increase of £384,00 or 37% increase when 

compared to the 2023/2024 indicative budget.  The increase in pricing relates to: 

- Increased operating costs in relation to fuel, utilities and staffing costs 

 

- The under-pricing of the previous specification  

2.14 An allowance of 6% for inflation has been included in the costs for financial year 

2023/2024 only.  No provision for replacement vehicle costs has been included, 

further investment would be due in 2026/2027, and would potentially need to be 

financed by a further loan should the Council’s current arrangement with 

EnvironmentSK Ltd continue. 

 Revised Specification 

2.15 Given the Council’s challenging financial circumstances, further work has been 

undertaken in collaboration with EnvironmentSK Ltd to identify a range of options 

to amend the services specification and provide a level of savings that would avoid 

the budgetary pressure identified. 

 2.16 Whilst undertaking this review, careful consideration has been given to ensuring the 

standard of service provided would remain high to mitigate any impact on the 

district’s appearance or the Council’s reputation. A detailed breakdown of the 

savings and impact on service delivery is provided in Appendix Two (titled - 

Amended Grounds Maintenance Specification and Associated Savings). 

 Market Provider 

2.17 Following the decision made by Cabinet on 12 July 2022, a mini competition was 

launched under the Eastern Shires Purchasing Organisation (ESPO) framework 

(Lot 245_21) on 21 July 2022 with the closing date for submissions being 30 August 

2022. The proposed contract term was for five years with the potential to extend the 

arrangement for a maximum additional two years. The grounds maintenance 

specification formed the basis of the procurement opportunity including a detailed 

pricing schedule for contractors to complete.  Also included were the options 

identified by EnvironmentSK Ltd to amend the level of service provided as detailed 

in Appendix Two. 

2.18 There are a total of 14 operators on the ESPO framework for grounds maintenance 

services.  All had the opportunity to submit clarification questions on the 

specification, contract term or pricing schedule, prior to submitting a tender price for 

the work. 

17



 
 

2.19 The tender opportunity did not generate any significant interest, and it was clear 

from the clarification questions received, the market had little confidence the Council 

intended to award a commercial contract. As a result, the tender opportunity was 

withdrawn on 15 August 2022. 

2.20 In consideration of a report presented to a joint meeting of the Environment 

Overview and Scrutiny Committee and Rural and Communities Overview and 

Scrutiny Committee held on 15 November 2022 it was recommended that the 

Cabinet Member for Waste request Officers to commence a further procurement 

exercise in order to seek proposals from providers of grounds maintenance service 

on the new grounds maintenance specification which had been developed, to 

ensure that the Council had fully explored all available options. 

2.21 As a result a further mini competition was launched under the ESPO framework (Lot 

245_21) on 18 November 2022 with the closing date for submissions being 6 

January 2023.  Due to commercial sensitivity the outcome of the procurement is not 

contained in this report.  However, details of the procurement, including a summary 

of the results and evaluation process is attached to this report at Exempt Appendix 

Three. 

 Insourcing and Integration 

2.22 As a third option the insourcing of EnvironmentSK Ltd has been explored with the 

potential integration of the grounds maintenance service with other Council 

functions. Fundamentally, this avoids the need for the Council to continue to retain 

EnvironmentSK Ltd as a commercial company, which in itself will reduce operating 

costs.  However, due to the complexities around insourcing the grounds 

maintenance service and integration with other services, should this be the 

preferred option it is proposed a two phased approach is introduced as follows: 

- Phase 1 – EnvironmentSK Ltd adopting the revised specification detailed in 

Appendix Two from April 2023, the service being insourced at the earliest 

opportunity in financial year 2023/24. 

- Phase 2 – Thereafter completing the integration of the insourced grounds 

maintenance service with Street Scene and the Big Clean Team as soon as 

possible in financial year 2023/24. 

Phase 1 – Insourcing the Grounds Maintenance Service 

2.23 To establish the costs of a standalone insourced grounds maintenance service, 

financial modelling has taken place to identify the additional salary and pension 

costs, and the savings which would be provided by not maintaining and 

administering a separate company. This has identified an overall annual saving in 

the region of £152,000 would be achieved.  This projected saving takes into 

consideration the cost increase following the migration of EnvironmentSK Ltd staff 

onto the Council’s terms and conditions.  However, the full saving can only be 

realised upon the surrendering of the current operating location and integrating the 

service operation into the current depot at Alexandra Road, Grantham.  Should 

there be a requirement to continue to deliver the grounds maintenance service from 

18



 
 

a different location then it is likely new costs will be required which will reduce the 

£152,000 saving.   

2.24 Under an insourcing arrangement, the current employees of EnvironmentSK Ltd 

would transfer to the Council under Transfer of Undertakings (Protection of 

Employment) Regulations 2006 (TUPE).  Under TUPE Regulations the transferring 

employees have protected rights and would be fully consulted on the proposed 

change in employer. 

2.25 TUPE Regulations provide that transferring employees transfer to a new employer 

on their existing terms and conditions, their length of service also being protected.  

However, receiving employers can propose to make changes to the employees’ 

terms and conditions if these represent an improvement, and if the employees are 

fully consulted and agree to the proposed changes. 

2.26 The savings identified at paragraph 2.23 include harmonisation of the transferring 

employees onto Council terms and conditions.  This includes adopting Council pay 

grades, a reduction in the weekly hours worked from 40 to 37, and an increased 

holiday allowance. The transferring employees would also benefit for being able to 

join the Local Government Pension Scheme. As well as ensuring they are 

renumerated and rewarded appropriately for their work, this will also aid the 

recruitment and retention of staff which has proved difficult in the past. 

2.27 Should a final decision be made to insource the grounds maintenance service in 

February 2023, TUPE consultations could commence immediately, and a realistic 

timeline would be to have the service insourced by 1 May 2023 and fully integrated 

with Street Scene by 1 June 2023.   

Phase 2 – Insourcing the Service and Integration with Street Scene  

2.28 Using the baseline costs of insourcing the Council’s grounds maintenance service, 

further work is ongoing to identify the impact of integrating the service with Street 

Scene including the Big Clean Team. This currently includes: 

- Identifying the current level of service being delivered by Street Scene and the 

Big Clean Team. 

- Identifying the split of resources, including staffing and finance, between Street 

Scene and Waste Services.  

 

- Developing a services specification for Street Scene and Big Clean. 

 

- Merging the specifications for grounds maintenance and Street Scene to a 

resource plan in relation to staffing, vehicles and equipment. 

 

- Identifying the required management structure for an integrated service. 

 

- Developing service performance standards. 

 

19



 
 

2.29 The aim of this work is to identify further savings resulting from a full integration of 

the grounds maintenance and Street Scene services.  To date efficiencies have 

been identified in relation to: 

 - A reduction in the number of vehicles required 

- Workforce efficiencies, a larger team would provide flexibility and avoid a 

reliance on temporary seasonal staff and agency workers 

- Enhanced training for the team could negate the use of tree specialists for 

smaller tree works 

 - Opportunities around commercialisation of services 

2.30 The current budget for Street Scene and Big Clean is £1.4m.  Financial modelling 

undertaken to date has established that a prudent annual saving of £200,000 will 

be achieved should Street Scene and the Big Clean Team be integrated with an 

insourced grounds maintenance service.  The exact level of savings would need to 

be assessed for financial year 2023/24 depending on when the insourcing and 

integration is completed. 

2.31 EnvironmentSK Ltd currently undertake work for Parish Councils within the district, 

the contracts being renewed on an annual basis.  Quotes have already been 

generated to customers for financial year 2023/24, should the recommendations 

within this report be supported the Council will engage with the Parish Councils to 

honour the work at the price quoted. 

2.31 Together with the savings previously identified in relation to insourcing the grounds 

maintenance service, a total projected annual saving of £352,000 could be achieved 

from an integration of the services. 

3. Key Considerations 

 
3.1 Should the preferred option be to award a commercial contract it has been identified 

that additional costs would be incurred to develop a dedicated contract monitoring 

team to ensure that the contract delivered on price and quality.  This has been 

costed at £100,000 per annum. 

3.2 Should the option to insource the grounds maintenance service be the preferred 

way forward, this would provide the Council with full operational control over how 

the service is delivered. The service could be increased or reduced in line with 

service requirements, and take account of seasonal fluctuations, without incurring 

any contractual penalties or additional costs. 

3.3 If a decision is made for EnvironmentSK Ltd not to continue to provide the Council’s 

grounds maintenance service, the timeline for transfer to an alternative contractor, 

or for the service to be insourced, will need to be identified in line with the Council’s 

obligations relating to the transfer of employees under TUPE regulations. 

3.4 In addition to the necessary TUPE consultation with the current employees of 

EnvironmentSK Ltd, should the option to insource the service and integrate this with 

20



 
 

Street Scene be decided an integration of the two services would also require 

consultation with the existing Council employees. In line with Council procedures, 

affected employees would be fully consulted on the proposed changes to their 

employment with support from the Council’s HR team.   

3.5 Options are being explored to introduce charging for HRA assisted gardens and 

communal area maintenance. Any changes proposed to the service would require 

full consultation with the Council’s tenants.   

4. Other Options Considered 
 

4.1 A full explanation of the options considered has been provided in the body of this 

report. 

 

5. Reasons for the Recommendations 
 

5.1 A full appraisal of the options previously identified has been undertaken.  In 

consideration of the results Members are requested to provide a recommendation 

on the preferred option for consideration by Cabinet. 

6. Background Papers 
 

6.1 Grounds Maintenance Options Appraisal Report presented to Joint Scrutiny 

Meeting of Environment Overview and Scrutiny Committee and Rural and 

Communities Overview and Scrutiny Committee on 27 June 2022. 

Grounds Maint Joint OSC Report.pdf (southkesteven.gov.uk) 

 

6.2 Grounds Maintenance Options Appraisal report presented to Cabinet on 12 July 

2022. 

Covering Report.pdf (southkesteven.gov.uk) 

 

7. Appendices 
 

7.1 Exempt Appendix One – ESK Pricing Schedule 

 

7.2 Appendix Two – Revised Grounds Maintenance Specification and Associated 

Savings. 

 

7.3 Exempt Appendix Three – Procurement Report. 

 

7.4 Exempt Appendix Four – Loan to EnvironmentSK Ltd 

 

 

21

https://moderngov.southkesteven.gov.uk/documents/s34888/Grounds%20Maint%20Joint%20OSC%20Report.pdf
https://moderngov.southkesteven.gov.uk/documents/s35111/Covering%20Report.pdf


This page is intentionally left blank



Document is Restricted

23

By virtue of paragraph(s) 3 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government Act 1972.



This page is intentionally left blank



Appendix Two – Amended Grounds Maintenance Specification and Associated Savings 
 
Report to Joint Meeting of Rural and Communities Overview and Scrutiny Committee and Environment Committee 
 
6 February 2023 
 
Conclusion of Grounds Maintenance Options 
 

Area Original Specification Revised Specification General Fund Saving  
£ 

Housing Saving  
£ 

Total Savings/Income £ 

Open space grass cutting 10 cuts 7 cuts 66,476 29,178 95,654 

HRA Sheltered Housing 14 cut and collect 16 high spec cut and drop  19,966 19,966 

Assisted Gardens 
 

14 cut and collect 
2 hedge cuts 

14 cut and drop 
1 hedge cut 

  
82,141 

 
82,141 

Hedge Cutting 
 

2 cuts 1 cut 21,734 21,779 43,513 

Parks and Public Realm 2.5 Park Attendants 
 
 
2 hedge cuts 
 
10 cuts 

Cover spec requirements with 
GM teams 
 
1 hedge cut 
 
7 cuts 

84,003 
 
 

3,731 
 

3,939 

 
 
 

 

 
 
 
 
 

91,673 

Shrub bed maintenance * 4 cuts 2 cuts 36,589  36,589 

Hard surface sweeping 
(introduction of 
mechanical sweeping) 

 
Weekly 

Monthly  
4,879 

  
4,879 

Retain income from 
additional works for Parish 
Councils 

   
50,000 

  
50,000 

TOTAL SAVINGS   271,351 153,064 424,415 

REVISED COST OF SERVICE      

 

* This applies to general fund shrub beds only.  Parks, St Peter’s Hill and Abbey Gardens will be retained at 4 cuts per annum. 

25



T
his page is intentionally left blank



Document is Restricted

27

By virtue of paragraph(s) 3 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government Act 1972.



This page is intentionally left blank



Document is Restricted

35

By virtue of paragraph(s) 3 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government Act 1972.



This page is intentionally left blank


	Agenda
	3 Minutes from the Joint Meeting of the Environment Overview and Scrutiny Committee and Rural and Communities Overview and Scrutiny Committee held on 15 November 2022
	Minutes

	4 Conclusion of the Grounds Maintenance Options Appraisal
	Exempt Appendix One - ESK Pricing
	Appendix Two - Proposed Spec Amendments
	Exempt Appendix Three - Report on Procurement
	Exempt Appendix Four - Loan to EnvironmentSK Ltd


